
AGENDA

Kent County Council

REGULATION COMMITTEE MEMBER PANEL

Tuesday, 3rd March, 2015, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait
Seminar Lecture Theatre, Sessions House, 
County Hall Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416749

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting

Membership 

Mr M J Harrison (Chairman), Mr M Baldock, Mr A H T Bowles, Mr C W Caller and 
Mrs V J Dagger

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

1. Membership and Substitutes 

2. Declarations of Interest by Members for Items on the Agenda 

3. Application to register land at Montefiore Avenue in Ramsgate as a new Village 
Green. (Pages 3 - 18)

4. Application to register land adjacent to Shadoxhurst Village Green as a new Village 
Green (Pages 19 - 30)

5. Applications to register land at West Woods and Recreation Ground in 
Hildenborough as new Village Greens (Pages 31 - 54)

6. Other items which the Chairman decides are Urgent 

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)



Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Monday, 23 February 2015



 

Application to register land known as the Old Putting Green  
at Ramsgate as a new Town or Village Green 

 
 
A report by the Head of Regulatory Services to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 3rd March 2015. 
 
Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the land known as the Old Putting Green at 
Ramsgate has been accepted, and that the land subject to the application be 
formally registered as a Town or Village Green. 
 
 
Local Member:  Mr. A. Terry and Ms. Z. Wiltshire  Unrestricted item 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council has received an application to register land known as the Old 

Putting Green at Montefiore Avenue at Ramsgate as a new Town or Village 
Green from the Thanet District Council (“the applicant”). The application, received 
on 18th March 2014, was allocated the application number VGA661. A plan of the 
site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a copy of the application form is 
attached at Appendix B. 
 

2. Members may recognise the application site, which was the subject of a previous 
Village Green application in 2007 made under section 15(1) of the Commons Act 
2006 (i.e. on the basis of twenty years’ use). At the time, Thanet District Council 
(as landowner) opposed the application and the application was eventually 
refused on the basis that it did not meet the relevant legal tests. 

 
3. Generally speaking, the County Council is not able to re-consider a new Village 

Green application for a piece of land that has already been subject to a previous 
(unsuccessful) application. However, in this case, the current application has 
been made under a separate section of the Commons Act 2006 and, moreover, it 
is made at the landowner’s request. As such, there is no bar to the registration of 
the land as a Town or Village Green as a result of the current application. 

 
Procedure 
 
4. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 

recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

 
5. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 

enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

 
6. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 

15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 
or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

 
7. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 

the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

 
The Case 
 
Description of the land 
 
8. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of an 

irregularly-shaped piece of land with a grass surface approximately 0.8 acres 
(0.32 hectares) in size. The application site is situated to the side and rear of the 
Montefiore Games Centre on Montefiore Avenue at Ramsgate. Public Footpath 
TRX19 abuts the eastern side of the application site. 

 
9. A plan of the application site is attached at Appendix A. 
 
Notice of Application 
 
10. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 

County Council’s website. The local County Members were also informed of the 
application, as was Ramsgate Town Council. 

 
11. Ramsgate Town Council wrote to confirm its support for the application on the 

basis that the application site, if registered as a Village Green,  would give a much 
needed ‘green lung’ in a heavily developed area. 

 
12. The Thanet Bowls Club also wrote in support of the application, noting that it felt 

passionately that the leisure and recreational value of the application site must be 
protected for future generations. 

 
13. Letters and emails of support were also received from 22 local residents, as well 

as the local Borough Councillors. The general consensus is that the application 
site has been used by a variety of people for recreational purposes on a very 

Page 4



 

regular basis for many years. It is considered that the land is a valuable 
community resource that should be safeguarded for future generations. 

 
Ownership of the land 
 
14. A Land Registry search has been undertaken which confirms that the application 

site is wholly owned by the applicant under title number K903136. A copy of the 
Register of Title is attached at Appendix C. 

 
15. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 

charges) named on the Register of Title. 
 
The ‘locality’ 
 
16. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 

residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.  

 
17. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 

area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

 
18. In this case, the application form specified the relevant locality as the Borough 

Council ward of Sir Moses Montefiore. As noted above, an electoral ward is a 
qualifying locality for the purposes of Village Green registration and, as such, it 
seems appropriate that the relevant locality in this case should be the electoral 
ward of Sir Moses Montefiore. 

 
Conclusion 
 
19. As stated at paragraph 5 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 

of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period. 

 
20. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 

registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  
 
Recommendations 
 
21. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 

register the land known as the Old Putting Green at Ramsgate has been 
accepted, and that the land subject to the application be formally registered as a 
Town or Village Green. 
 
  

 

Page 5



 

Accountable Officer:  
Mr. Mike Overbeke – Tel: 03000 4134227 or Email: mike.overbeke@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 
 
The main file is available for viewing on request at the PROW and Access Service 
based at Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the Case Officer for 
further details. 
 
Background documents 
 
APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry  

Page 6



639100.000000

639100.000000

639200.000000

639200.000000

16
60

00
.0

00
00

0

16
60

00
.0

00
00

0

16
61

00
.0

00
00

0

16
61

00
.0

00
00

0

16
62

00
.0

00
00

0

16
62

00
.0

00
00

0

µ
Scale 1:1250

Land subject to Village Green application 
at Montefiore Avenue, Ramsgate

APPENDIX A: Plan showing land subject 
to Village Green application at 
Montefiore Avenue at Ramsgate

Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Application to register an additional piece of land adjacent to 
Shadoxhurst Village Green as a new Town or Village Green 

 
 
A report by the Head of Regulatory Services to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 3rd March 2015. 
 
Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the application to register the additional piece of land adjacent to 
Shadoxhurst Village Green has been accepted, and that the land subject to the 
application be formally registered as a Town or Village Green. 
 
 
Local Member:  Mr. M. Angell     Unrestricted item 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council has received an application to register an additional piece of 

land immediately adjacent to the existing Shadoxhurst Village Green (VG47) as a 
new Town or Village Green from the Shadoxhurst Parish Council (“the applicant”). 
The application, received on 4th December 2014, was allocated the application 
number VGA663. A plan of the site is shown at Appendix A to this report and a 
copy of the application form is attached at Appendix B. 

 
Procedure 
 
2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 

recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

 
3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 

enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

 
4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 

15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 
or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 

5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 
the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

 
The Case 
 
Description of the land 
 
6. The area of land subject to this application (“the application site”) consists of a 

very small parcel of land approximately 105 square metres in size that is situated 
between the existing Village Green at Shadoxhurst (VG47) and the entrance to 
St. Peter and St. Paul’s Church. 

 
7. A plan of the application site is attached at Appendix A. 
 
Notice of Application 
 
8. As required by the regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 

County Council’s website. The local County Member was also informed of the 
application. 

 
9. The local County Member, Mr. M. Angell, confirmed his support for the 

application. 
 
Ownership of the land 
 
10. A Land Registry search has been undertaken which confirms that the application 

site is wholly owned by the applicant under title number TT25359. A copy of the 
Register of Title is attached at Appendix C. 

 
11. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 

charges) named on the Register of Title. 
 
The ‘locality’ 
 
12. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 

residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.  

 
13. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 

area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

 
14. In this case, the application has been made by the local Parish Council. As noted 

above, a civil parish is a qualifying locality for the purposes of Village Green 

Page 20



 

registration and, as such, it seems appropriate that the relevant locality in this 
case should be the civil parish of Shadoxhurst. 

 
Conclusion 
 
15. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 

of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period. 

 
16. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 

registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  
 
Recommendations 
 
17. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the application to 

register the application to register the additional piece of land adjacent to 
Shadoxhurst Village Green has been accepted, and that the land subject to the 
application be formally registered as a Town or Village Green. 
 
  

 
Accountable Officer:  
Mr. Mike Overbeke – Tel: 03000 413422 or Email: mike.overbeke@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 
 
The main file is available for viewing on request at the PROW and Access Service 
based at Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the Case Officer for 
further details. 
 
Background documents 
 
APPENDIX A – Plan showing application site 
APPENDIX B – Copy of application form 
APPENDIX C – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry  

Page 21



597200.000000

597200.000000

13
76

00
.0

00
00

0

13
76

00
.0

00
00

0

13
78

00
.0

00
00

0

13
78

00
.0

00
00

0

²
Scale 1:1250

Land subject to Village Green application 
at Shadoxhurst (adjacent to existing 
Village Green VG47 shown in violent)

APPENDIX A: Plan showing land subject 
to Village Green at Shadoxhurst

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



 

Applications to register lands known as ‘West Wood’ and 
‘Recreation Ground’ at Hildenborough as new Village Greens 

 
 
A report by the Head of Regulatory Services to Kent County Council’s Regulation 
Committee Member Panel on Tuesday 3rd March 2015. 
 
Recommendation: I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant 
that the applications to register the lands known as ‘West Wood’ and 
‘Recreation Ground’ at Hildenborough have both been accepted, and that the 
areas of land subject to the applications be formally registered as Town or 
Village Greens. 
 
 
Local Member:  Mrs. V. Dagger     Unrestricted item 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The County Council has received two applications from Hildenborough Parish 

Council (“the applicant”) to register lands known as ‘West Wood’ and ‘Recreation 
Ground’ in the parish of Hildenborough as new Town or Village Greens. The 
applications, both received on 31st January 2014, were allocated the application 
numbers VGA659 (Recreation Ground) and VGA660 (West Wood). Plans of the 
sites are shown at Appendix A to this report and copies of the application forms 
are attached at Appendix B. 

 
Procedure 
 
2. Traditionally, Town and Village Greens have derived from customary law and until 

recently it was only possible to register land as a new Town or Village Green 
where certain qualifying criteria were met: i.e. where it could be shown that the 
land in question had been used ‘as of right’ for recreational purposes by the local 
residents for a period of at least 20 years. 

 
3. However, a new provision has been introduced by the Commons Act 2006 which 

enables the owner of any land to apply to voluntarily register the land as a new 
Village Green without having to meet the qualifying criteria. Section 15 states: 

“(8) The owner of any land may apply to the Commons Registration Authority 
to register the land as a town or village green. 
(9) An application under subsection (8) may only be made with the consent of 
any relevant leaseholder of, and the proprietor of any relevant charge over, 
the land.” 

 
4. Land which is voluntarily registered as a Town or Village Green under section 

15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 enjoys the same level of statutory protection as 
that of all other registered greens and local people will have a guaranteed right to 
use the land for informal recreational purposes in perpetuity. This means that 
once the land is registered it cannot be removed from the formal Register of Town 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 

or Village Greens (other than by statutory process) and must be kept free of 
development or other encroachments. 

 
5. In determining the application, the County Council must consider very carefully 

the relevant legal tests. In the present case, it must be satisfied that the applicant 
is the owner of the land and that any necessary consents have been obtained 
(e.g. from a tenant or the owner of a relevant charge). Provided that these tests 
are met, then the County Council is under a duty to grant the application and 
register the land as a Town or Village Green. 

 
The Case 
 
Description of the lands 
 
6. The first piece of land (comprising application VGA659) forms part of the 

Recreation Ground that is situated on the western side of Riding Lane (opposite 
its junctions with Riding Park and Mount Pleasant in the parish of Hildenborough. 
It comprises a large area of grassed open space of approximately 2.56 hectares 
(6.34 acres) in size. It excludes the tennis courts to the north of the application 
site, as well as the pavilion and parking area on the southern side. Access to the 
site is via entrances in Rising Lane and Public Footpath MT25 which crosses the 
western side of the application site. The application site is shown in more detail in 
the plan at Appendix A1. 
 

7. The second piece of land (comprising application VGA660) is known as ‘West 
Wood’ and is situated to the south of Tonbridge Road (B245) in the parish of 
Hildenborough. The application site extends on its northern side to Public 
Footpath MT414, on its western side to the Hildenborough Medical Centre and on 
its eastern and southern sides to the rear of properties in Leigh Road and Stocks 
Green Road. It comprises an area of largely woodland of approximately 4.6 
hectares (11.4 acres) in size, but excludes a play area along the northern 
boundary. Access to the site is via the unenclosed boundary with Public Footpath 
MT414. The application site is shown in more detail in the plan at Appendix A2. 

 
Notice of Application 
 
8. As required by the regulations, Notice of the applications was published on the 

County Council’s website. The local County Member was also informed of the 
applications, as was Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council. 
 

9. No responses were received to the consultation. 
 
Ownership of the land 
 
10. Land Registry searches have been undertaken in respect of both pieces of land. 

These have confirmed that both areas are wholly owned by the applicant; the 
Recreation Ground site is registered to the applicant under title number K948092, 
whilst the West Wood site is registered to the applicant under title numbers 
K691045 and K532217. Copies of the relevant Registers of Title are attached at 
Appendix C. 

Page 32



 

 
11. There are no other interested parties (e.g. leaseholders or owners of relevant 

charges) named on the Registers of Title in respect of the sections of land that 
are to be registered as Village Green. 

 
The ‘locality’ 
 
12. DEFRA’s view is that once land is registered as a Town or Village Green, only the 

residents of the locality have the legal right to use the land for the purposes of 
lawful sports and pastimes. It is therefore necessary to identify the locality in 
which the users of the land reside.  

 
13. A locality for these purposes normally consists of a recognised administrative 

area (e.g. civil parish or electoral ward) or a cohesive entity (such as a village or 
housing estate). 

 
14. In this case, the applications have been made by the local Parish Council. As 

noted above, a civil parish is a qualifying locality for the purposes of Village Green 
registration and, as such, it seems appropriate that the relevant locality in both of 
these cases should be the parish of Hildenborough. 

 
Conclusion 
 
15. As stated at paragraph 3 above, the relevant criteria for the voluntary registration 

of land as a new Town or Village Green under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 
2006 requires only that the County Council is satisfied that the land is owned by 
the applicant. There is no need for the applicant to demonstrate use of the land 
‘as of right’ for the purposes of lawful sports and pastimes over a particular 
period. 

 
16. It can be concluded that all the necessary criteria concerning the voluntary 

registration of the land as a Village Green have been met.  
 
Recommendations 
 
17. I recommend that the County Council informs the applicant that the applications 

to register the lands known as ‘West Wood’ and ‘Recreation Ground’ at 
Hildenborough have both been accepted, and that the areas of land subject to the 
applications be formally registered as Town or Village Greens. 
  

 
Accountable Officer:  
Mr. Mike Overbeke – Tel: 03000 4134227 or Email: mike.overbeke@kent.gov.uk 
Case Officer: 
Ms. Melanie McNeir – Tel: 03000 413421 or Email: melanie.mcneir@kent.gov.uk 
 
The main file is available for viewing on request at the PROW and Access Service 
based at Invicta House, County Hall, Maidstone. Please contact the Case Officer for 
further details. 
 

Page 33



 

Background documents 
 
APPENDIX A1 – Plan showing application site at the ‘Recreation Ground’ 
APPENDIX A2 – Plan showing application site at ‘West Wood’ 
APPENDIX B1 – Copy of application form for the ‘Recreation Ground’ 
APPENDIX B2 – Copy of the application form for ‘West Wood’ 
APPENDIX C1 – Copy of the Register of Title from Land Registry for the ‘Recreation 
Ground’ 
APPENDIX C2 – Copy of the Register of Titles from Land Registry for ‘West Wood’ 

Page 34



556500.000000

556500.000000

14
90

00
.0

00
00

0

14
90

00
.0

00
00

0

²
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application at 
the Recreation Ground at Hildenborough

APPENDIX A1: Plan showing area of land 
subject to Village Green application at the 
RECREATION GROUND at Hildenborough

Page 35



557000.000000

557000.000000

14
85

00
.0

00
00

0

14
85

00
.0

00
00

0

²
Scale 1:2500

Land subject to Village Green application 
at West Wood at Hildenborough

APPENDIX A2: Plan showing land subject 
to Village Green application known as 
WEST WOOD at Hildenborough

Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Application to register land at Montefiore Avenue in Ramsgate as a new Village Green.
	membersreport.RAMSGATE
	The Case

	appendixA
	appendixB
	appendixC

	4 Application to register land adjacent to Shadoxhurst Village Green as a new Village Green
	membersreport.SHADOXHURST
	The Case

	appendixA
	appendixB
	appendixC

	5 Applications to register land at West Woods and Recreation Ground in Hildenborough as new Village Greens
	membersreport.HILDENBOROUGH
	The Case

	appendixA1
	appendixA2
	appendixB1
	appendixB2
	appendixC1
	appendixC2




